IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)

Plaintiff and Respondent,)

v.)

TIMOTHY WAYNE JOHNSON,)

Defendant and Appellant.)

No. S219454

Court of Appeal No. B249651

(Los Angeles County Superior
Court No. YA038015)

SUPREME COURT
FILED

SEP 19 2014

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

JONATHAN B. STEINER
Executive Director

*SUZAN E. HIER
Staff Attorney
(State Bar No. 90470)

CALIFORNIA APPELLATE PROJECT
520 S. Grand Ave./4th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90071
Telephone: (213) 243-0300
Fax: (213) 243-0303
Email: suzan@lacap.com

Attorneys for Appellant
Timothy Wayne Johnson

QUESTION PRESENTED

1. For the purpose of determining eligibility for resentencing under the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012 (Prop. 36, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012) [Pen. Code, § 1170.126]), is an offense considered a serious or violent felony if it was not defined as a serious or violent felony on the date the offense was committed but was defined as a serious or violent felony on the effective date of the Act?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 21, 1998, appellant was sentenced to a “Three Strikes” life term based upon his conviction of two counts of dissuading a witness in violation of Penal Code section 136.1, subdivision (a)(1).¹ (CT 24) Appellant’s prior serious felony convictions were for robbery, residential burglary, and assault with a deadly weapon. (CT 13, 21)

On May 10, 2013, a formal Petition for Recall of Sentence was filed in appellant’s behalf by the Post Conviction Assistance Center (PCAC). (CT 11-38)²

On June 12, 2013, the court ruled on the May 10, 2013 petition, denying it with prejudice. (CT 109) The ruling was based upon the finding that appellant’s current conviction, which is now defined as a serious felony, rendered him ineligible for relief under Penal Code section 1170.126. (CT 109-114)

¹/ Appellant’s total sentence was 28 years to life. It comprised concurrent 25 years to life terms for the dissuasion counts, plus 3 years for three Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (b) enhancements. (CT 24)

²/ On November 8, 2012, appellant had written to the superior court, requesting information on having his indeterminate “strike” sentence reduced pursuant to Proposition 36. (CT 67) On February 19, 2013, the trial court characterized that request as a petition to recall his sentence pursuant to Penal Code section 1170.126 and denied it with prejudice. (CT 3-10) On June 10, 2013, at the request of PCAC, and with the District Attorney’s express lack of objection, the court vacated the February 19 order denying appellant’s “petition.” (CT 40-100, 101, 103-104)

Appellant appealed. (CT 116) On May 23, 2014, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion affirming the trial court's order denying the petition. (See Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Docket in case B249651)

On June 24, 2014, petitioner's Petition for Review was filed. Thereafter, on July 30, 2014, this Court granted review. (See California Supreme Court Docket in case S219454)

ARGUMENT

**FOR THE PURPOSE OF DETERMINING ELIGIBILITY FOR
RESENTENCING UNDER THE THREE STRIKES REFORM ACT
OF 2012 (PROP. 36, GEN. ELEC. (NOV. 6, 2012) [PEN. CODE, §
1170.126]) AN OFFENSE CANNOT BE CONSIDERED A SERIOUS
OR VIOLENT FELONY IF IT WAS NOT DEFINED AS A SERIOUS
OR VIOLENT FELONY ON THE DATE THE OFFENSE WAS
COMMITTED EVEN IF IT WAS DEFINED AS A SERIOUS OR
VIOLENT FELONY ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT**

A. Introduction

Proposition 36 (Prop. 36) amended the Three Strikes law to dilute it such that life sentences are reserved for “cases where the current crime is a serious or violent felony or the prosecution has pled and proved an enumerated disqualifying factor. In all other cases, the recidivist will be sentenced as a second strike offender.” (*People v. Yearwood* (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 161, 167-168.) Penal Code section 1170.126 was also enacted to create the mechanism by which a defendant serving a third strike sentence that would not have been a life sentence under the diluted new law can obtain a recall of his sentence and be resentenced as a second strike offender. (*Ibid.*)

The Three Strikes Law is constructed of a series of statutes. Some of these, basically parallel each other as the law was developed simultaneously by the Legislature and by the electorate using the initiative process. Thus, Penal Code sections 667 and 1170.12 both lay out the Three Strikes Law, each explaining how the alternative sentencing scheme works and when it applies. Both sections refer to Penal Code sections 667.5 and 1192.7 for definitions of “violent” and “serious” felonies within the meaning of

the Three Strikes Law. Penal Code sections 667.1 and 1170.125 were added later to modify each respective statute (sections 667 and 1170.12) so as to update these definitions-by-reference when the referenced statutes (sections 667.5 and 1192.7) were themselves modified. (See *Manduley v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 537, 574-575, 577.) Thus, the law comprises several statutes that must be read together to complete it.

Prop. 36, in addition to amending the existing statutes, added another statute to the mix, Penal Code section 1170.126. Section 1170.126, which embodies the recall provisions to enable already imposed third strikes sentences to be modified consistent with the new criteria, also cross-references the basic sections 667 and 1170.12. And, it is included in section 1170.125. Therefore, section 1170.126 must be read in conjunction with the rest of the statutory scheme and interpreted consistently with it. (See *People v. Briceno* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 451, 459-460; *Robert L. v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 903; *People v. Rizo* (2000) 22 Cal. 4th 681, 685.)

The issue presented here relates to the interplay between sections 667.1 and 1170.125 and the basic Three Strikes Law as embodied in section 667 and 1170.12, respectively. Since 2000, the sections 667.1 and 1170.125 have been interpreted to require that the determination of whether a *prior* conviction constitutes a “strike” within the meaning of sections 667 and 1170.12 be based upon the definitions of violent or serious felonies in effect on the date of the *commission* of the current offense being punished. (See *People v. James* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1147, 1151; *People v. Superior*

Court (Andrades) (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 817, 826-830; *In re Jenson* (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 262, 266, fn.3.) Until the passage of Prop. 36, the status of the current offense being punished as either violent or serious was irrelevant to what “strikes” sentence would be imposed. Now, that status matters. Now, sections 667.1 and 1170.125 must be applied to the determination of the status of the *current* offense as well. And, the status of the current offense is a key component to a defendant’s eligibility for a recall of his sentence under section 1170.126.

The Court of Appeal concluded that, irrespective of section 1170.125, which expressly includes section 1170.126 in its purview, and the cases that have interpreted section 1170.125 to require that the determination of whether a crime could be considered violent or serious for purposes of the Three Strikes Law be based upon the definition of those offenses at the time of the commission of the offense being punished, a defendant’s eligibility for a sentence recall must be based upon the current definitions of violent and serious felonies. As appellant’s crime is currently defined as serious, the Court of Appeal found appellant ineligible for a recall. The Court of Appeal was wrong.

Reading section 1170.126 in the overall context of the Three Strikes Law as it has been applied and interpreted demonstrates that the determination of whether a person is eligible for a recall of a third strike sentence must be based upon whether his crime was a “violent” or “serious” felony at the time of its commission. This conclusion is consistent with the statutory language and the purposes of the electorate in enacting Prop. 36.

B. The Statutory Language

When interpreting a statute, the courts “look first to the words themselves.

[Citations] When the language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for construction. [Citations] When the language is susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, however, we look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part.” (*People v. Woodhead* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1007-1008.)

When the Three Strikes Law was enacted in 1994, it provided, as it does today, that all violent and serious felonies as defined in Penal Code sections 667.5 and 1192.7 were “strikes.” (Pen. Code, §§ 667, subd. (d) (1), 1170.12, subd. (b) (1).) Section 2 of Proposition 184, enacting the “Three Strikes Law,” provided that “[a]ll references to existing statutes are to statutes as they existed on June 30, 1993.” Penal Code section 667, the Legislature-enacted parallel provision creating Three Strikes sentencing, also initially indicated that the controlling definitions were those in effect on June 30, 1993. (Former Pen. Code, § 667, subd. (h).)

In 2000, when Proposition 21 increased the number of offenses that qualified as serious felonies, Penal Code section 1170.125 was added to ensure that the newly added “strikes” were applied only prospectively. That section provided that the definitions of violent and serious felonies as referred to in the “strikes” law were as they existed on the

effective date of the Proposition 21, including the amendments made by the proposition, but clarified that these definitions were for crimes committed *on or after* the effective date of Proposition 21. Penal Code section 667.1 was enacted at the same time to make the same provisions for the “strikes” law as it appeared in Penal Code section 667. In 2006, when additional changes were made to the lists of offenses that were “violent” and “serious,” section 1170.125 was amended to provide that, for crimes committed *on or after* the effective date of the amendments, and section 667.1 was similarly updated. Now, after the passage of Prop. 36, Penal Code section 1170.125 has been amended again to provide that “for all offenses committed *on or after* the effective date of this act,” all references to existing statutes in section 1170.12 *and* the new 1170.126 are to those statutes as they exist at the time of the effective date of Proposition 36. (Emphasis added.)³

Thus, from its inception, the determination of whether a crime was a violent or serious felony for purposes of the Three Strikes Law has been based upon the definition of violent or serious felony in effect at the time of the commission of the crime being punished. (See Pen. Code, §§ 667.1, 1170.125; *People v. James* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1147, 1151; *People v. Superior Court (Andrades)* (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 817, 826-830;

^{3/} Penal Code section 1170.125 now reads: “Notwithstanding Section 2 of Proposition 184, as adopted at the November 8, 1994, General Election, for all offenses committed on or after November 7, 2012, all references to existing statutes in Sections 1170.12 and 1170.126 are to those sections as they existed on November 7, 2012.”

In re Jenson (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 262, 266, fn.3; see also *People v. Ringo* (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 870, 884.) And, the clear language of Penal Code section 1170.125 has required that new designations of serious and violent felonies are to be applied going forward, to offenses committed “on or after” the effective date of the amendments to the lists of serious or violent felonies. Thus, “strike” sentences are available for any case in which the law in effect at the time of the commission of the current offense defined the charged prior “strike” conviction as a serious or violent felony, but are not available if, at the time of the commission of the current offense, the prior “strike” was not yet listed as a violent or serious felony. (See *People v. James, supra*, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 1151 [permitting a “strike” sentence based upon the definition of violent or serious felonies in effect as of the date of the current offense, irrespective of whether the prior offense was a “strike” when the prior was committed]; see also *Manduley v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 537, 574-575, 577 [explaining lock-in date for new “strikes”]; *In re Jenson, supra*, 92 Cal.App.4th at p. 266, fn.3 [noting that an offense added to the list of juvenile offenses that could be “strikes” after the commission of the current offense did not affect that case].)

Until now, the status of the current offense as serious or violent was irrelevant to whether the defendant could receive a “third strike” sentence. In the past, all defendants with multiple “strike” priors were given an indeterminate life sentence irrespective of the status of the current offense. With the passage of Prop. 36, however, whether a

defendant with multiple prior serious or violent felonies will receive a second strike, determinate, sentence or a third strike, indeterminate, sentence now turns on the status of a *current* felony. (Pen. Code, §§ 667, subd. (e)(2), 1170.12, subd. (c)(2).)

Additionally, with the passage of Proposition 36, Penal Code sections 667.1 and 1170.125 once again were amended to state that, for purposes of the Three Strikes Law, changes made to the lists of violent or serious felonies apply *prospectively* to crimes that are committed on or after November 7, 2012. And, section 1170.125 expressly refers to Penal Code section 1170.126 in making this statement. That is, once again, the date of the *current* felony controls which definition of violent or serious felony will be used to determine what, if any, “strike” sentence will be imposed, and Penal Code section 1170.125’s reference to Penal Code section 1170.126 makes it clear that the same rule applies in cases of petitions for recall of a third strike sentence that was previously imposed. Because the plain language of the statutes states that new additions to the list of serious or violent felonies can be used in the determination of whether a crime was a violent or serious felony for purposes of the Three Strikes Law only for crimes committed on or after the effective date of the statutory change making the additions, whether appellant’s *current* conviction is a violent or serious felony turns on the definition of violent or serious felony in effect at the time of its commission. (See *People v. Ringo*, *supra*, 134 Cal.App.4th at p. 883 [in interpreting an initiative look first to the language of the statute].)

“Where, as here, ‘the language of a statute uses terms that have been judicially construed,’ “‘the presumption is almost irresistible’” that the terms have been used”” in the precise and technical sense which had been placed upon them by the courts.”” [Citations.] This principle [likewise] applies to legislation adopted through the initiative process. [Citation.]” (*People v. Weidert* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 836, 845-846.)

The “on or after” language of section 1170.125 has always been construed to mean that for purposes of the Three Strikes Law the definition of a violent or serious felony is controlled by the definition of those terms in effect on the date of the commission of the offense being sentenced. The use of the same language in the latest amendment to the statute gives rise to the “almost irresistible presumption” that the same construction should apply to the amended statute. The inclusion of new section 1170.126 in section 1170.125 further demonstrates that the same definitions and rules should apply throughout the Three Strikes sentencing scheme.

Moreover, “[t]he statutory language must also be construed in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme.” (*People v. Rizo* (2000) 22 Cal. 4th 681, 685; *People v. Briceno* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 451, 459.) “We do not interpret statutory language in isolation but interpret it “‘in the context of the entire statute of which it is a part, in order to achieve harmony among the parts.’”” (*Id.* at p. 460; *Robert L. v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 903.)

There is no indication that the definitions of violent and serious felonies are intended to apply differently with respect to the commitment offense and the prior, “strike,” offenses. As a general rule, the same words or expressions mean the same thing in the same statute, and any previous construction of the term by the courts is deemed applicable to statutes later using the same terms. (See *In re Jeanice D.* (1980) 28 Cal.3d 210, 216; see also *Gustafson v. Alloyd Company, Inc.* (1995) 513 U.S. 561, 568 [“we adopt the premise that the term should be construed, if possible, to give it a consistent meaning throughout the Act. That principle follows from our duty to construe statutes, not isolated provisions.”].) Thus, the use of the same prospective language in section 1170.125, with its reference to section 1170.126, along with judicial construction of the application of amendments to the definitions of serious and violent felonies as being dependent on the date of the current offense, demonstrate that the date of the current offense should control the determination of its status as a serious felony for purposes of Penal Code section 1170.126.

Subdivision (a) of section 1170.126 states that it applies to those “whose sentence under this act would not have been an indeterminate life sentence.” Under the current act, a defendant who had committed his offense before March, 2000, but not been tried or sentenced on it until after November 7, 2012, would be sentenced according to the definition of serious or violent felonies that were in effect before March, 2000. This is because he would be sentenced under Penal Code sections 667 and 1170.12.

Penal Code, sections 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C), and 1170.12, subdivision (c)(2)(C), provide that a defendant who “has two or more prior serious and/or violent felony convictions” as defined by sections 667.5 and 1192.7, and “the current offense” is not a serious or violent felony as defined by sections 667.5 and 1192.7, “shall be sentenced” to a doubled, determinate second strike term, unless other specified disqualifications apply. Furthermore, sections 667.1 and 1170.125 explain that “all references” to existing statutes in sections 667 and 1170.12 are controlled by the definitions in effect as of the time of the commission of the offense being sentenced. (See Pen. Code, §§ 667.1, 1170.125; *Manduley v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 574-575, 577; *People v. James*, *supra*, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 1151; see also *People v. Ringo* (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 870, 884 [for purposes of 667, subdivision (a), in post-Prop. 21 cases, “the crucial date for determining if a prior conviction qualifies as a serious felony is the *date of the charged offense*” (emphasis added)].)

Sections 667.1 and 1170.125 use the phrase “all references” to existing statutes in sections 667 and 1170.12. The present versions of Penal Code sections 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C), and 1170.12, subdivision (b)(2)(C), provide that a “current” offense that is not a felony defined as violent or serious within the meanings of section 667.5 and 1192.7 is not subject to a third strike sentence. The reference in these subdivisions to sections 667.5 and 1192.7 is a part of “*all references*” to existing statutes those sections. Thus, pursuant to Penal Code section 667.1 and 1170.125, and the cases interpreting them, the

determination of whether a second strike sentence must be imposed instead of a third strike sentence is now made based upon whether the *current* felony was defined at the time of its *commission* as a violent or serious felony.

Therefore, if a defendant were tried today under the act, and his crime was committed before March, 2000, the determination of whether his current offense qualifies for a third strike sentence would be controlled by the definitions in effect as of June 1993. If it were committed after March, 2000, but before 2006, it presumably would be controlled by the definition in effect in March, 2000. If it was committed after 2006, it would be controlled by the definition in effect in September, 2006. *Only* if it were committed after November 7, 2012, would it be controlled by the current definition.

Penal Code sections 667.1 and 1170.125 have consistently stated that new definitions apply only to crimes committed on or after their effective dates and have consistently been interpreted to require that the date of the current offense being sentenced controls the definitions to be applied. (See *People v. James*, *supra*, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 1151; *People v. Superior Court (Andrades)*, *supra*, 113 Cal.App.4th at pp. 826-830; *In re Jenson*, *supra*, 92 Cal.App.4th at p. 266, fn. 3; see also *Manduley v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 574-575, 577.) Thus, pursuant to Penal Code section 1170.125 and the case law interpreting it, a person whose current offense was not a violent or serious felony when committed, is a person “whose sentence under this act would not have been an indeterminate life sentence” within the meaning of Penal Code

section 1170.126. By extension then, the determination of whether a third strike sentence should be recalled under Penal Code section 1170.126 must be based upon whether the offense being punished was a serious or violent felony at the time of its commission.

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