In the Supreme Court of the State of California

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA,**

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY WAYNE JOHNSON,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S219454

Appellate District, Case No. B249651
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. YA038015
The Honorable William C. Ryan, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

**SUPREME COURT
FILED**

NOV - 4 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
GERALD A. ENGLER
Chief Assistant Attorney General
LANCE E. WINTERS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
VICTORIA B. WILSON
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
NOAH P. HILL
Deputy Attorney General
CARL N. HENRY
Deputy Attorney General

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

ARGUMENT

FOR PURPOSES OF DETERMINING ELIGIBILITY FOR RESENTENCING UNDER SECTION 1170.126, SUBDIVISION (E)(1), AN OFFENSE IS A SERIOUS OR VIOLENT FELONY IF IT WAS DEFINED AS ONE ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT

Appellant argues that voters intended the use of the commission date test in deciding a defendant’s eligibility for recall of sentence under section 1170.126, subdivision (e)(1). (AOB 1-27.) But, the current list test must prevail over the commission date test because: (1) section 1170.126’s use of the present verb tense shows that courts must utilize the definitions of serious or violent felonies in effect on November 7, 2012, in evaluating an inmate’s eligibility for resentencing; (2) nothing in the arguments for and against Proposition 36 in the Voters Pamphlet show that a court must decide whether a crime is serious or violent as of the date of the crime’s commission instead of Proposition 36’s effective date of November 7, 2012, and the electorate did not intend for a defendant, such as appellant, whose triggering offense is currently defined as a serious felony, to be entitled to relief; (3) courts have consistently decided whether a prior offense was a serious or violent felony using the current definitions of serious and violent felonies, rather than the definitions in place at the commission of the prior offense; (4) the use of the current definitions of serious and violent felonies to determine eligibility for resentencing is not inconsistent with section 1170.125; and (5) ex post facto analysis shows

why the current list test must prevail over the commission date test. Hence, the current list test must prevail over the commission date test in determining eligibility for resentencing pursuant to section 1170.126, subdivision (e)(1).

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In interpreting a voter initiative, courts apply the “same principles that govern statutory construction.” (*Robert L. v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 900-901 (*Robert L.*); see also *People v. Park* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 782, 796.) Courts thus look “first to the language of the statute, giving the words their ordinary meaning.” (*People v. Birkett* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 226, 231 (*Birkett*)). If there is no ambiguity in the language, courts presume that “the lawmakers meant what they said, and the plain meaning of the language governs.” (*Day v. City of Fontana* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 268, 272 (*Day*); see also *Kwitset Corp. v. Superior Court* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 321.) The language must also be viewed in the context of the whole statute, and the overall scheme must be construed in light of voter intent. (See *Robert L.*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 901.) If the language is ambiguous, courts look “to other indicia of the voters’ intent, particularly the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet.” (*Birkett*, *supra*, 21 Cal.4th at p. 243.) Courts must interpret an initiative’s language to effectuate proponent voter intent. (See *Robert L.*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 901; *Hodges v. Superior Court* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 109, 114 [“we may not properly interpret the measure in a way that the electorate did not contemplate: the voters should get what they enacted, not more and not less.”].)

II. THE USE OF PRESENT VERB TENSE IN SECTION 1170.126 MEANS COURTS MUST UTILIZE THE CURRENT LIST TEST IN DETERMINING WHETHER A TRIGGERING FELONY IS SERIOUS OR VIOLENT

Section 1170.126's use of the present verb tense shows that courts must use the definitions of serious or violent felonies in effect on November 7, 2012, when the Act took effect, in determining an inmate's eligibility for resentencing under subdivision (e)(1).

Section 1170.126, subdivision (b) states:

[a]ny person serving an indeterminate term of life imprisonment imposed pursuant to [the Three Strikes Law] upon conviction, whether by trial or plea, of a felony or felonies that *are not defined* as serious and/or violent felonies by subdivision (c) of section 667.5 or subdivision (c) of section 1192.7, may file a petition for a recall of sentence.

(Italics added.) Additionally, section 1170.126, subdivision (e)(1) deems an inmate eligible for resentencing if “[t]he inmate is serving an indeterminate term of life imprisonment imposed pursuant to [the Three Strikes Law] for a conviction of a felony or felonies that *are not defined* as serious and/or violent felonies.” (Italics added.)

Section 1170.126's use of the present verb tense means that courts must utilize the definitions of serious or violent felonies as they existed on November 7, 2012, in evaluating eligibility for section 1170.126 resentencing. (See *People v. Loeun* (1997) 17 Cal.4th 1, 11 [the use of verb tense by the Legislature or electorate is significant]; section 7 [“words used in this code in the present tense include the future as well as the present”].) Instead of starting his argument by addressing the plain meaning of the present tense verbs in section 1170.126, appellant centers his argument on his preferred construction of a different statute, section 1170.125. (AOB 5-16.) However, as stated, courts look “first to the language of the statute, giving the words their ordinary meaning.” (*Birkett, supra*, 21 Cal.4th at p.

231.) If there is no ambiguity in the language, courts presume that “the lawmakers meant what they said, and the plain meaning of the language governs.” (*Day, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 272.) The present tense verb use proves that the current list test is what voters plainly intended in terms of a court’s evaluation of a prisoner’s eligibility for section 1170.126 resentencing -- particularly in light of voter approval in March 2000 of Proposition 21’s increased statutory list of serious and violent felonies to imprison third strike felons. (See *Manduley, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 574; AOB 7 [“Proposition 21 increased the number of offenses that qualified as serious felonies”].)

In addition, section 1170.126, subdivision (e)(2), further demonstrates the significance of the use of present tense language in the statute. It provides that an inmate is eligible for resentencing if his “current sentence *was not* imposed for any of the offenses *appearing in*” sections 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(i)-(iii) or 1170.12, subdivision (c)(2)(C)(i)-(iii). (§ 1170.126, subd. (e)(2).) This subdivision uses the term “appearing,” rather than “then-appearing” or “appearing at the time” of sentencing. The use of the past tense with respect to sentencing and the present participle with respect to the offenses again supports the conclusion that current definitions of the offenses are determinative. (See *United States v. Hull* (3rd Cir. 2006) 456 F.3d 133, 145 [Congress’s use of the present participle [in the statute] connotes present, continuing action”].)

Similarly, section 1170.126, subdivision (a), which provides that the resentencing provisions of the Act apply exclusively to those inmates “whose sentence under this act would not have been an indeterminate life sentence,” demonstrates that the statute is intended to apply only to those defendants whose current felony was not contained in sections 667.5, subdivision (c), or 1192.7, subdivision (c), at the time of the Act’s enactment. (See also § 1170.126, subs. (b) & (e).)

III. ELECTORAL INTENT SUPPORTS THE USE OF THE CURRENT LIST TEST

Appellant asserts that the electorate enacted section 1170.126 in order to “reduce overcrowding, sav[e] taxpayer dollars, and protect[] the public,” and he claims that “[t]he best way to accomplish all the goals of the statute is to have a large pool of eligible defendants, who if they are not unreasonably dangerous can have shorter, less costly terms of imprisonment.” (AOB 22.) However, nothing in the arguments for and against Proposition 36 in the official ballot guide show that courts must decide whether a crime is serious or violent as of the date of the crime’s commission instead of Proposition 36’s effective date of November 7, 2014. (See *People v. Blakely* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1042, 1048, 1054-1057 (*Blakely*) [analysis of Proposition 36 voter intent]; *People v. Yearwood* (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 161, 171 (*Yearwood*) [same].) In fact, the analysis of Proposition 36 conducted by the Legislative Analyst’s office used the present tense when referring to disqualifying serious and/or violent felonies, stating, ““This measure limits eligibility for resentencing to third strikers whose current offense *is* non-serious, [and] non-violent”” (See *People v. Superior Court (Martinez)* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 979, quoting Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec., (Nov. 6, 2012) analysis of Prop. 36 by Legis. Analyst, p. 50, italics supplied.) Thus, the electorate would have reasonably believed that the Act would disqualify any defendant whose most recent offense was currently included on the list of serious and/or violent felonies at the time the Act was enacted.

An examination of the materials placed before the voters substantiates this conclusion. As the Court of Appeal in *Yearwood* stated:

The Act’s proponents advanced six arguments in favor of the Act in the Voter Information Guide. The argument headings were titled: (1) “make the punishment fit the crime”; (2) “save California over \$100 million every year”; (3) “make room in

prison for dangerous felons”; (4) “law enforcement support”; (5) “taxpayer support”; and (6) “tough and smart on crime.” (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012) argument in favor of Prop. 36, p. 52, capitalization omitted.) The ballot arguments supporting Proposition 36 were primarily focused on increasing public safety and saving money. The public safety argument reasoned, “Today, dangerous criminals are being released early from prison because jails are overcrowded with nonviolent offenders who pose no risk to the public. Prop. 36 prevents dangerous criminals from being released early. People convicted of *shoplifting a pair of socks, stealing bread or baby formula* don’t deserve life sentences.” (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec., *supra*, rebuttal to argument against Prop. 36, p. 53.) Also, “Prop. 36 will help stop clogging overcrowded prisons with non-violent offenders, so we have room to keep violent felons off the streets.” (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec., *supra*, argument in favor of Prop. 36, p. 52.) The Act’s proponents stated that “Criminal justice experts and law enforcement leaders carefully crafted Prop. 36 so that truly dangerous criminals will receive no benefits whatsoever from the reform.” (*Ibid.*) The fiscal argument reasoned that the Act could save taxpayers “\$100 million every year” that would otherwise be spent “to house and pay health care costs for non-violent Three Strikes inmates if the law is not changed.” (*Ibid.*)

(*Yearwood, supra*, 213 Cal.App.4th at p. 171 [italics added]; see *People v. White* (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 512, 522 (*White*) [“The electorate also approved a mandate that the Reform Act be liberally construed to effectuate the protection of the health, safety, and welfare of the People of California”].)

The arguments in favor of Proposition 36 assured voters that “violent repeat offenders [will be] punished and not released early,” that the initiative is designed to “continue to punish dangerous career criminals,” “keep dangerous criminals off the streets,” and that “truly dangerous criminals will receive no benefits whatsoever from the reform.” (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec., *supra*, argument in favor of Proposition 36,

p. 52.) Construing Penal Code section 1170.126, subdivisions (b) and (e)(1), to refer to those triggering offenses that are currently defined as serious and/or violent supports the Act's public safety purpose by reducing the likelihood that defendants who are currently dangerous will be released from prison due to the Act. The electorate would have had no basis to conclude that a defendant who committed his triggering offense prior to March 9, 2000, should be considered any less dangerous than a defendant who committed his triggering offense after that date.⁴ (See *People v. Walker* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 577, 581 (*Walker*) [in construing a statute, a reviewing court must select the interpretation that comports with the intent of the electorate and avoid an interpretation that would "lead to absurd consequences"].) Thus, allowing resentencing of inmates whose triggering convictions are currently defined as serious and/or violent would contradict the aim of the initiative.

Moreover, the Act, considered in its totality, demonstrates that the electorate intended to go beyond the enumerated offenses in Penal Code sections 667.5, subdivision (c), and 1192.7, subdivision (c), to include other triggering offenses that would ultimately disqualify a defendant from resentencing. (See Pen. Code, § 1170.126, subd. (e)(2); see also Pen. Code

⁴ Respondent notes that the purpose of Proposition 21 was "to increase public safety." (*People v. James* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1147, 1151 (*James*)). In addition to defining dissuading a witness as a serious felony, the initiative also added other offenses to the list of enumerated serious felonies, including: making criminal threats (Pen. Code, § 422), assault with a deadly weapon or firearm (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (a)(1)), assault with acid or a flammable substance (Pen. Code, § 244), shooting from a vehicle (Pen. Code, § 26100, subds. (c)-(d)), and discharge of a firearm at an inhabited dwelling, vehicle, or aircraft (Pen. Code, § 246). (See *People v. Neely* (2004) 124 Cal.App.4th 1258, 1267-1268.)

§§ 667, subd. (e)(2)(C)(i)-(iii), 1170.12, subd. (c)(2)(C)(i)-(iii); *People v. Guilford* (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 651, 655-662 [petitioner’s conviction record [i.e., Court of Appeal’s “prior opinion”] contained sufficient evidence that he “intended to cause great bodily injury to another person” under the disqualifying factor in sections 667(e)(2)(C)(iii) and 1170.12(c)(2)(C)(iii) of the Three Strikes Law as amended by Proposition 36]; *White, supra*, 223 Cal.App.4th at pp. 519, 522-527 [record contained sufficient evidence that petitioner was “armed with a firearm” under the disqualifying factor in sections 667(e)(2)(C)(iii) and 1170.12(c)(2)(C)(iii)]; see e.g., *Quinones, supra*, 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 1045 [“Here we have an even stronger [disqualification] case than in *White*”].) The structure of the statutes comprising the Act, together with the relevant indicia of the electorate’s intent, demonstrates that the electorate intended that any defendant considered to be currently dangerous would receive no benefit from the Act’s enactment. (*White, supra*, 223 Cal.App.4th at p. 517 [“[E]ven if the resentencing eligibility criteria are satisfied and none of the disqualifying exceptions or exclusions applies, the prisoner is *not* entitled to resentencing relief under the reform Act as a second strike offender if the trial court, in its discretion, determines that such resentencing ‘would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety.’”] [italics in original], quoting *Kaulick, supra*, 215 Cal.App.4th at p. 1286, and § 1170.126, subd. (f).) Considered in this light, it makes no sense that the electorate would have intended to permit those individuals whose triggering offenses were defined as serious and/or violent felonies on the date of the Act, but not at the time of conviction, to qualify for resentencing under Penal Code section 1170.126. (See *Walker, supra*, 29 Cal.4th at p. 581.)

As noted by the Court of Appeal below:

. . . in enacting Proposition 36 the electorate sought to reduce prison overcrowding and save money, while at the same time protecting public safety by ensuring that persons deemed to pose a safety risk remained incarcerated and did not benefit from the Act. Proposition 36 struck this balance by carefully crafting a set of eligibility requirements for inmates seeking sentencing reductions. Chief among those requirements is the noneligibility of persons whose current crime is a serious or violent felony. In other words, the electorate made the judgment that persons whose current offense was defined as a serious or violent felony on November 7, 2012, are deemed to pose too great a risk to public safety to benefit from the resentencing provision.

(*People v. Johnson* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 620, 633 (*Johnson*) [review granted here]; Slip Opn. at p. 16.)

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